THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2017-001016

The State,

Respondent

v.

Gabriel Betancourt, Jr.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 10 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ESQ.

LAUREN C. HOBBS, ESQ.

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ATTORNEY AT LAW, LLC
522 North Church Street
Greenville South Carolina 29601
(864) 331-1612

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT A TREATING EXPERT WITNESS DID NOT IMPROPERLY BOLSTER THE MINOR VICTIM'S CREDIBILITY BY TESTIFYING ABOUT THE MINOR VICTIM'S POST-TRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER DIAGNOSIS AND SYMPTOMS.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING A CLINICAL SOCIAL WORKER TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT REGARDING DELAYED DISCLOSURE OF SEXUAL ABUSE BY CHILDREN WHEN HER METHODOLOGY WAS NOT RELIABLE AND HER TESTIMONY WAS NOT HELPFUL TO THE JURY AND REQUIRED NO SPECIALIZED KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE, OR SKILL.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING PRIOR STATEMENTS BY THE MINOR VICTIM THAT ALLEGED SEXUAL ABUSE AGAINST AN INDIVIDUAL OTHER THAN APPELLANT.
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING A LAW CLERK TO STAY WITH THE JURY IN THE JURY ROOM DURING DELIBERATIONS FOR APPROXIMATELY NINETY (90) MINUTES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following the victim's ("Minor") disclosure of allegations of sexual abuse to a teacher, Appellant Gabriel Betancourt was indicted for three counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct ("CSC") with a minor (2015GS2308459; 2017GS2301209A; 2017GS2301210A), one count of third degree CSC with a minor (2015GS2308457), one count of lewd act on a child (2017GS2301207A), and one count of disseminating pornographic material to a minor (2017GS2301206A).¹ R. pp. 109-111. Appellant was tried by jury in March 2017 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. Appellant testified in his own defense and denied all allegations of sexual abuse. R. pp. 402-435. Appellant was acquitted on one count of first degree CSC and dissemination of porn to a minor. R. pp. 626-627. The jury found Appellant guilty of the remaining charges. R. pp. 626-627. At sentencing, the trial court found no mitigating circumstances and imposed a sentence of 45 years imprisonment for each first degree CSC with a minor charge and 15 years imprisonment for both third degree CSC with a minor charges and for the lewd act with a minor charge, all to run concurrently. R. p. 639. Following the denial of Appellant's post trial motion, Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on April 21, 2017.

¹Although the offense conduct is essentially indistinguishable, Appellant was charged with both a lewd and lascivious act on a child under the age of sixteen, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-140 and CSC with a minor in the third degree, § 16-3-0655(C) (2015) because Minor alleged that Appellant committed this offense multiple times on separate occasions, one prior to and one following the statutory change.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The aforementioned charges arose after ten-year-old Minor told a teacher that she had been touched inappropriately by her “dad” on January 14, 2015. R. p. 68, ln. 11. Investigator David Picone, one of the responding officers, took statements from various teachers, a school counselor, Minor, and Minor’s mother (“Mother”). R. pp. 69, 78. Picone testified that Minor stated who abused her and disclosed only general information about the alleged incidents of sexual abuse at that point. R. pp. 110-111. At the time of Minor’s disclosure, Appellant and Mother had been dating and living together for about eight years. R. p. 412. Picone also testified that when Mother gave her statement at the school, she was shocked and extremely upset about the allegations and threatened to harm Appellant. R. pp. 109-110. Picone testified that he had to instruct Mother not to illicit any details about the allegations from her daughter prior to an interview at the Judy Valentine Center (“Center”):

And I asked her, you know, please don’t discuss this with her daughter. You know, it’s already traumatic enough on the children. I usually ask the parents not to ask any questions because when they - - for an interview, we want them to, you know, the information they provide to come from their mouth and not be given by the parents. R. p. 108, ln. 3-14.

Minor went home from school with her mother that day. R. p. 111, ln. 22. Picone and Mother did not have any contact from the date of disclosure on January 14, 2015 until January 26, 2015, when Mother contacted Picone to supplement her statement at the school with more information. R. p. 112, ln. 15-25. Picone testified that during that conversation, Mother was extremely angry and said she wanted to kill Appellant. R. p. 113, ln. 6-9. Picone testified that he had to explain to Mother to “please let me continue the investigation.” R. p. 113, ln. 6-9.

At trial, Mother testified that before Minor's disclosure on January 14, 2015, she had explained to Minor, although not in great detail, that she herself had been raped twice when she was nine and again at fourteen years old. R. p. 263, ln. 17-21; p. 264. Mother was diagnosed with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder at a young age, and testified that Minor may be schizophrenic or bipolar from the symptoms in Minor that she had seen. R. p. 264, ln. 18-25; pp. 265-266. Additionally, prior to Minor's disclosure, Mother also explained to Minor that Minor's biological father had sexually abused Minor as an infant. *See* DVD of Forensic Interview, Julie Valentine Center, Feb. 3, 2015 ("DVD"). The trial court excluded all mention of these allegations and redacted Minor's recorded interview to remove the statements. R. p. 21. However, Mother testified that due to her own sexual assault experiences, she had not allowed Minor's biological father to change her diaper. R. p. 263, ln. 19-25; p. 264, ln. 1-17. Specifically, Mother testified she told Minor:

I didn't want you know your [biological] father to change your diaper. I don't think its right. I don't want something to happen. You know, because always in the back of my mind every single person that walks by has the capability to do something grotesque. It's whether or not they act on it. R. p. 264, ln. 11-17.

Further, at trial, the teacher to whom Minor first disclosed the alleged abuse testified that Minor told her she had been touched inappropriately by her "dad." R. p. 68, ln. 11. Minor later stated that she did not call Appellant "dad" during his relationship with her mother, and that she did not think of him as her dad. R. p. 175; p.176, ln. 8-11.

Further, after Minor's disclosure and prior to her interview at the Center on February 3, 2015, Mother discussed the allegations with other family members, as well as with Minor when Minor approached her about it. R. p. 268. Between Minor's disclosure and her interview at the Center, Mother testified that she "actually went into detail with

[Minor]" when explaining to Minor her own sexual assault experiences. R. p. 263, ln. 12-13. Mother was aware that Minor was going to be interviewed at the Center for the purposes of investigating and collecting evidence against Appellant. R. p. 268. During that interview, Minor stated, "[M]y mom told me this was coming", and "[M]y mom told me this was going to happen." *See* DVD.

The interview was recorded, which was entered into evidence and played for the jury at trial. R. pp. 322-23. Minor testified that she explained "a lot more about what happened" in the interview R. p. 196, ln. 19-22, such as detailing the various instances of Appellant inappropriately touching her with his fingers; striking her; raping her orally, vaginally, and anally; and forcing Minor to watch pornography as well as watch Appellant and Mother have sex. DVD. Minor also described what she wore on several of those occasions, like a purple tank top and a red dress that was part of Mother's Halloween costume in 2014. DVD. Specifically, Minor stated that Appellant made her wear the dress without underwear about five times in total. DVD. Minor told the interviewer that on one occasion, Appellant backhanded her, knocking her tooth out, when she wore shorts underneath the dress, and that she fought back until he slapped her, knocking her out. DVD. Minor also said that while wearing the dress, Appellant made her submit to oral sex and vaginal sex, and that "a little pus came out of his penis." DVD. Minor stated that the last time she wore the red dress was just a few weeks before her disclosure on January 14, 2015. DVD. The red dress, the purple tank top, and bed sheets were seized after a search of the family home shortly after the interview. R. p. 111, ln. 4-7. Each of those items tested negative for Appellant's DNA. R. pp. 122-123; p. 127, ln. 1-12; p. 197, ln. 17-22.

Further, Minor then twelve years old, testified before the jury at trial. R. p. 172. She identified a photograph of the red dress; but first testified that she did not remember what, if anything, Appellant did to her when she wore it. R. p. 185, ln. 18-25; p. 186, ln. 17-25. However, Minor later testified that Appellant hit and knocked out her upper “pointy tooth”, “the third tooth” while wearing it. R. p. 198, ln. 3-21. Minor also testified to various incidents of sexual abuse that she had alleged against Appellant during the interview, but denied or could not recall other entire incidents or their details at trial. For example, Minor testified that Appellant had put his mouth near her “wrong spot” [genitals] starting from age five until she was ten, but also stated she could not remember what exactly happened when he did that. R. p. 179, ln. 2-8; *contrast with DVD*. The State then elicited testimony about Minor’s previous addresses and elementary schools during that five year time period in order to pinpoint what alleged incidents occurred when and where. R. p. 174, pp. 179-185. Minor provided each address and school, even identifying one certain address by photograph, and stated both in the interview and at trial that she remembered Appellant “touching [her] in a way [she] didn’t like” at that house and testified that he had put his fingers, penis, or some other object in her bottom at that house. R. p. 182, ln. 5-9. However, she also testified that she did not remember any kind of sexual abuse happening at that same house. R. p. 181, ln. 7-16, *contrast with DVD*.

At trial, child abuse pediatric expert Mary Fran Croswell, M.D., testified that a physical examination of Minor showed that her genitals were normal, but also testified that a normal exam did not rule out sexual trauma. R. pp. 289-290, 295, 298, 306. The State also called social worker Erica Von Wagner to testify, who was qualified as an expert in the “treatment of children for sexual abuse and trauma.” R. pp. 201, 205-207.

After extensive proffer testimony and over defense counsel's objections, Wagner testified to the general symptoms of sexual trauma-induced Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Minor's PTSD symptoms and "clinically significant" high PTSD diagnosis, as well as Minor's treatment in trauma focused-cognitive behavior therapy, and pace of progress. R. pp. 207-209, 211-220, 225-230, 232-237.

Finally, the State called Linda Hutton, a clinical social worker, to testify as a blind expert in the field of child sex abuse treatment; specifically, the subject of delayed disclosure of sexual abuse by children. R. p. 380. Defense counsel objected to admitting Hutton as an expert on a myriad of grounds in the absence of reliability in her methodology; no specialized knowledge or skill was required for her testimony, which consisted of only personal observations; her testimony as an expert was not necessary or helpful to the jury in determining an issue; the bolstering or credibility vouching effect of her testimony; and the resulting unfair prejudice. R. p. 325, ln. 11-22; pp. 331-336, 355, 360-367, 376. During additional *voir dire*, Hutton testified that what constitutes delayed disclosure is "in the eyes of the beholder" R. p. 345, ln. 10-14 and could not estimate as to the number of delayed disclosure cases versus immediate disclosure cases amongst her 12 to 15 current patients or over the span of her career. R. p. 347, ln. 7-15; p. 348. Hutton's office kept no statistics on the subject and she was unfamiliar with any published statistics on the matter. R. p. 348, ln. 13-15. Hutton did not know whether the issue is peer reviewed and in forming her opinion, she relied upon no text, article, or publication. R. pp. 349, ln. 3-25; p. 357, ln. 21-25; p. 358, ln. 1-2. Hutton could not testify as to what quality control methods she used and could not provide a rate of error. R. pp. 356, ln. 18-25; p. 357, ln. 1-11. The trial court overruled all objections and found

Hutton's testimony reliable. R. pp. 368, ln. 14-25; p. 369. In the presence of the jury, Hutton broadly testified to what is common in these cases, such as (1) the types of perpetrators; (2) the behavior and symptoms of child sexual abuse victims; (3) the reasons children do not initially disclose; (4) the physical manifestations of abuse children experience later on, such as nightmares; and (5) the high frequency of delayed disclosures. R. p. 381, ln. 23-25; pp. 382-387. Lastly, Hutton testified that in her 42 years of experience, she had never run across a child who had made false allegations of sexual abuse. R. p. 392, ln. 9-16.

The jury began to deliberate at 4:13 p.m. on March 23, 2017. R. p. 616, ln. 14. Following a jury question at 6:10 p.m. to watch the video of Minor's interview again, Judge Hocker's law clerk brought his laptop into the jury room so that they could view it without the risk that they would browse the internet or other areas of the laptop. R. p. 620, ln. 7, ln. 18-25; p. 621, ln. 1-4. Following the jury question at 6:10 p.m. and an off-the-record discussion, the law clerk stayed in the jury room with the jury until around 7:23 p.m. when the jury was brought back into the courtroom. R. pp. 620, ln. 7, 12; p. 622, ln. 19-25. During that time, the jury watched and discussed the interview and otherwise deliberated in the presence of the law clerk. R. p. 621, ln. 4-9. Judge Hocker stated for the purpose of updating the record that he was absolutely confident that his law clerk did not participate in the deliberations but had concerns about her remaining with the jury. R. p. 621, ln. 10-16. The law clerk did not speak on the record.

ARGUMENT

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT A TREATING EXPERT WITNESS DID NOT IMPROPERLY BOLSTER THE MINOR VICTIM'S CREDIBILITY BY TESTIFYING ABOUT THE MINOR VICTIM'S POST-TRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER DIAGNOSIS AND SYMPTOMS.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will be reversed on appeal when the decision constitutes an abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 338, 768 S.E.2d 246, 249 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions 'either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.'" *Id.* (quoting *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013)). An abuse of discretion in admitting expert testimony occurs where "the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair," and there is "a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." *Id.* at 338-339 (quoting *State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003); *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

Here, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting Wagner's expert testimony regarding PTSD in children generally, as well as her testimony about Minor's specific PTSD symptoms, her behavior, and her progress during their counseling sessions together. R. pp. 201, 205-207, 233, 235-236. Defense counsel's objections that Wagner's testimony improperly bolstered or vouched for Minor's credibility were overruled by the trial court, citing in its ruling: *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993), *State v. Berry*, 413 S.C. 118, 775 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 2015) (affirmed as modified by 418 S.C. 500, 796 S.E.2d 26 (2016)); *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (2015);

and *State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999). See R. pp. 214-216; p. 217, ln. 13-25; p. 218, ln. 1-4; p. 228, ln. 11-25; p. 229.

Wagner's testimony strikes at the heart of what *State v. Kromah* and its predecessors were decided to prohibit as Wagner's testimony indirectly vouched for Minor's credibility and was unduly prejudicial. In *Kromah*, the South Carolina Supreme held that an expert's testimony improperly vouched for the truth of the child victim's allegations when she testified that from interviewing the child, she made a "compelling finding" of physical abuse. 401 S.C. 340, 350-51, 359, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495-96, 500 (2013). The Supreme Court reasoned that the testimony was "the equivalent of [] stating the Child was telling the truth." *Id.* at 359, 737 S.E.2d at 500. The Supreme Court explained that "[t]he assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury," and witnesses are usually prohibited from testifying whether another witness is being truthful; and when done by an expert witness, the impermissible harm is compounded. *Id.* at 358, 737 S.E.2d at 499-500 (citations omitted). The Supreme Court went on to advise what is and what is not proper testimony during a CSC trial, including in the list of improper testimony the following:

- any statement that indirectly vouches for the child's believability, such as stating the interviewer has made a "compelling finding" of abuse;
- any statement to indicate to a jury that the interviewer believes the child's allegations in the current matter; or
- an opinion that the child's behavior indicated the child was telling the truth.

Id. at 360.

Here, Wagner generally defined "trauma", PTSD, and the common symptoms that are seen in children that have suffered sexual abuse, such as fear; "depression, anger, irritability"; and avoidance, as in "trying not to think about, or avoiding people or places

or things that reminds them of that event that happened.” R. p. 210, ln. 16-25; p. 211, ln. 2-11. Wagner then testified that Minor specifically presented a number of the symptoms common in children that had suffered sexual abuse such as irritability, anger, a “high score for avoidance symptoms”, flashbacks, nightmares, and trouble sleeping. R. p. 232, ln. 5-15. Wagner testified that these symptoms were symptoms of PTSD and that she had diagnosed Minor with a “clinically significant” high score for PTSD. R. p. 232, ln. 16-25; p. 233, ln. 1-22. Wagner’s diagnosis of Minor and testimony that Minor’s symptoms were PTSD symptoms common in children that had suffered sexual abuse improperly vouched for Minor’s credibility. Her PTSD diagnosis and her testimony that Minor’s PTSD score was clinically significant are in this way no different than testifying that there was a “compelling finding” for sexual abuse and that Wagner believed the victim. *See Kromah*, at 359, 737 S.E.2d at 500. There is no other reasonable way for the jury to interpret this testimony because if Wagner had not believed Minor’s allegations of sexual abuse or had not believed Minor was telling the truth, then Wagner would not have interpreted her symptoms as those of PTSD stemming from trauma like sexual abuse and would not have diagnosed Minor with PTSD. *See State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (“In each report, the forensic interviewer stated that during the interviews, each child had ‘provide[d] a compelling disclosure of abuse by [appellant].’ There is no other way to interpret the language used in the reports other than to mean the forensic interviewer believed the children were being truthful.”). *See also State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 465-66, 725 S.E.2d 139, 142-143 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding it was reversible error to admit expert testimony regarding what forensic interviewers look for when determining if a child is telling the truth and admitting the

interviews with the specific victims in the case were “compelling for sexual abuse” because such testimony was “nothing other than her inadmissible opinion as to whether the victim was telling the truth.”); *State v. Dawkins*, 297 S.C. 386, 393-94, 377 S.E.2d 298, 302 (1989) (holding that it was error, but only harmless error, for a treating psychiatrist to testify that the victim’s symptoms were genuine); *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 567-69, 689 S.E.2d 629, 631-33 (2010) (holding that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the expert’s testimony that she found the victim’s statement to be believable and that the victim had no reason to lie). From her testimony, it is not as though Wagner’s PTSD diagnosis could have been based on a traumatic event in Minor’s life other than the alleged sexual abuse. Wagner also phrased her findings in a way that treated the occurrence of Minor’s sexual trauma as fact: “Her treatment goal was to forget about *what had happened*”; “She progressed in treatment.” R. p. 207, ln. 23-24; p. 237, ln. 1-9. Vouching is further evident here because without another possible traumatic event underlying Wagner’s diagnosis, there is nothing else besides sexual trauma for the jury to assign to “what had happened” that Minor wanted to forget and what she was progressing from.

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