STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 27 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GABRIEL BETANCOURT, JR.,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-001016

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Because of her experience, Betancourt was qualified to give an opinion about the behaviors of sexually abused children and delayed disclosure. Honea. This testimony is reliable to the degree that a trial court does not need to hold “reliability” proceedings. Kumho. Further, the testimony clearly aids the finder of fact and is not considered bolstering. Schumpert, Brown.

III.

Because Appellant failed to show the prior accusation by Victim was false, and the prior accusation was too remote and not similar to the present case, the trial court did not err in declining to admit evidence Victim made a prior allegation of sexual abuse.

Betancourt claims the trial court erred by not allowing evidence Victim accused her biological father of sexually assaulting her. At trial and on appeal, Betancourt stops short of asserting the allegation was false. A showing of falsity is required for the evidence to be admitted. Further, the trial court found the incident too remote and dissimilar to be admissible. The trial court did not abuse its discretion to find the evidence irrelevant.

During the forensic interview, the interviewer asked Victim if anyone other than Betancourt abused her, and she responded that her biological father touched her when she was approximately one year old. State's Exhibit 3 (unredacted interview, 53:00). After leaving the room momentarily and returning to ask follow up questions, the interviewer asked Victim if that was something she knew or something she heard, and Victim replied it was something she knew, that she remembered her father touching her in the bathtub, but she also said her mother told her about the abuse. (1:01:00 - 1:02:00). In addressing the admissibility of the video statement, defense counsel suggested that the statement did not fit under State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990), but instead was admissible to challenge Victim's ability to recall and her capacity to understand what happened to her at the age of one. Tr. p. 67, lines 7-13. This argument is a tacit admission that the accusation was irrelevant to the present case: Betancourt was on trial for assaulting Victim between the ages of five and ten years old, and her ability to recall or understand prior victimization by another person when she was one year old is irrelevant to the instant case.

In Boiter, the Supreme Court found evidence of prior false accusations by the victim may be probative on the issue of credibility, but noted other jurisdictions require a threshold determination the prior accusation was false. Id. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365. The Supreme Court held in “deciding the admissibility of evidence of a victim’s prior accusation, the trial judge should first determine whether such accusation was false.” Id. If finding the accusation was false, the trial court should consider the remoteness in time and consider the factual similarity between the prior and present allegations to determine relevancy. Id.

Boiter’s victim, his seventeen-year old stepdaughter, testified in camera she told her mother and a social worker she was fondled by her biological father at age eight. No investigation or further inquiry was conducted as a result of her complaint. Applying the facts in Boiter to the Supreme Court’s announced standard, the Supreme Court held, “Based upon the record in this case, the previous accusation was not investigated. **The defense presented no evidence to establish its falsity.**” Id. at 384, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Boiter requires the defendant to show: (1) the prior accusation was false, (2) the prior accusation was not too remote; and (3) the factual similarity between the prior and present allegation is sufficient to be relevant. Boiter. In the instant case, the trial court determined that while the accusation may be false, the allegation of abuse from when Victim was one year old was too remote and not sufficiently similar to the facts of the instant case to be allowed into evidence. Tr. p. 70. Note the trial court did not rule that the rape shield statute applied. The trial court acted within its discretion to find the accusation inadmissible.

First, no evidence was presented showing that Victim’s allegation against was false. Victim’s accusation made during the forensic interview was based in part on information her mother

provided to her. The record does not indicate that any charge was ever brought against the biological father. Like Boiter, because no evidence was presented that the accusation was false, the trial court did not err in declining to allow evidence of the false accusation.

Further, the trial court correctly found the accusation was too remote, because it related to when Victim was only one year old. It also is irrelevant to the present case due to the different circumstances surrounding the accusation. The accusation pertains to an isolated incident while Betancourt's abuse of Victim was chronic, over an extended period of time.

In Hughes v. Raines, 641 F.2d 790 (9th Cir. 1981), the defendant kidnapped and raped the victim under the pretext of taking her to his employer to help her find a job. At trial, he sought to admit evidence she accused another man of rape on another occasion and the charge was false. The Ninth Circuit noted it was doubtful a reasonable juror would find the accusation was false, but also concluded the relevance to the case was slight. The Ninth Circuit noted, "The fact that the two incidents were quite different further attenuates the inference to be drawn [that the accusation in this case was false]." Id. at 793. The court concluded, "Exploring the factual situation of the prior incident would have added extraneous issues that had little, if any, probative value. The limitation of the cross-examination was a reasonable exercise of discretion by the trial judge." Id.

In Commonwealth v. Haynes, 696 N.E.2d 555 (Mass. App. Ct. 1998), the defendant attempted to introduce evidence the victim made a false accusation against her grandfather to a DSS social worker. The victim testified that at the time she believed it because her mother and the defendant told her she woke in the middle of the night and wrote it down, and that it was her writing what was in her subconscious. Id. at 560. The victim testified at trial that she did not have an independent memory of the event and no longer believed her mother or the defendant, or that the act

occurred. Id. at 561. The Appeals Court found the victim's statement was not a false accusation in the true sense and further found the excluded statement would not have any significant impact on a central issue of the trial. Id.

In State v. LeClair, 730 P.2d 609 (Ore. Ct. App. 1986), the Oregon Court of Appeals skeptically noted some evidence prior accusations made by the victim of incidents occurring in 1981 and 1984 could be false. Nonetheless, the Oregon court noted the trial court determined that the probative value of the 1981 incident was diminished by remoteness because the victim was only four years old at the time. The incident report indicated the mother made the accusation and the victim was unwilling to talk. Mother and daughter both denied making the accusation. Id. at 615-16.

As to the 1984 incident, the Oregon court referenced the trial judge's observation "that the trauma of an actual incident of sexual abuse can precipitate a child's false accusations of subsequent abuse" and noted, "The determination, therefore, of whether the 1984 incident occurred or whether the victim had fabricated that charge would depend in part on whether the events for which defendant was charged had occurred, rather than vice versa, thereby causing further confusion." Id. at 616. The Oregon court concluded the trial judge's determination was not in error. Id.

In the instant case, the trial court correctly declined to allow evidence that was both confusing and irrelevant to the charges against Betancourt. First, no evidence was presented that the accusation was false and it certainly could have occurred even if there is a question about the accuracy of victim's age when it occurred. Further, Victim told the interviewer she remembered being molested by her biological father, but also told the interviewer her mother told her it happened. Therefore, her memory was consistent with what her mother suggested to her. However, Victim's accusations as to Betancourt were made without suggestion by her mother, and she recounted chronic abuse by

Betancourt over a five-year period from when she was five years old up until the time of disclosure. Her disclosure of Betancourt's abuse was not predicated on remote memory or a suggestion by her mother that Betancourt abused her – instead the abuse was still ongoing and Mother was caught off guard and unaware of the abuse until Victim disclosed at school. Tr. p. 311, lines 10-19.

“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); Rule 403 SCRE (“evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, . . .”). A trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App.2004). Because Victim's accusation related to a remote period of time, arose under different circumstances, did not represent an accusation of chronic abuse, and was wholly disconnected from the veracity of Victim's accusations against Betancourt, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to allow evidence of the prior accusation at trial.

Further, any conceivable error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Despite not being allowed to introduce evidence that Victim made a prior accusation against her biological father, Betancourt was allowed to elicit testimony from Mother that she was sexually abused as a child and disclosed that to Victim. Tr. pp. 311-12. She told Victim “you have to watch out for people.” Tr. p. 312, lines 19-21. She also told Victim she did not like the way her biological father changed her diaper and did not think it was right. She did not want something to happen. Tr. p. 313, lines 10-17.

The “materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App.

2003). Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003); State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). In the instant case, Betancourt was allowed to elicit testimony from Mother tending to show she might have suggested prior sexual abuse by her biological father and suggesting hypervigilance on her part. Because any further testimony on any potential abuse by the biological father could not reasonably be expected to change the outcome of the trial, any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

IV.

Because defense counsel did not object to the law clerk remaining in the jury room while the jury viewed the forensic interview on a laptop, the issue is not preserved for review. Further, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, and Appellant fails to show he was prejudiced by the procedure.

Betancourt complains the trial court's law clerk remained with the jury while it viewed the forensic interview. The issue should not be reviewed because Betancourt's defense counsel did not object to the procedure.

During deliberations, the jury sent a note to the trial court requesting to watch the forensic interview again. The trial court later explained for the record the following:

All right. Let's put this on the record, just kind of bring us up to date.

The jury had sent out a question indicating they wanted to watch the forensic interview. So per agreement with the State's investigator, a laptop, along with my law clerk, the laptop and my law clerk went back to the jury room for purposes of playing the video. And, of course, my law clerk being back there just to make sure that the jury didn't try to go to any part of the laptop, even though that may not have been possible. Because she was back there just to kind of safeguard that. And they've – and that's been for about an hour. We've learned that during the course of that, in my law clerk's presence, they were discussing/deliberating while they're watching the video. And only got about twenty minutes into it.

* * *

So per agreement as well, we're going to bring the jury out and instruct them that my law clerk is not going to remain back there. . . . [T]hey are instructed not to try to gain access or do anything else with the computer, other than to use it to watch and listen to the forensic video.

Tr. p. 669, line 15 – p. 670, line 25. The prosecutor agreed with the trial court's statements and when the trial court asked for defense counsel's acknowledgement, defense counsel merely added his

understanding that other materials on the computer were password protected. Tr. p. 670, line 25 – p. 671, line 7. The trial court proceeded to instruct the jury consistent with what the trial court discussed beforehand with the attorneys. Tr. pp. 671-72. Afterwards, the trial court asked if the attorneys were satisfied with the instructions the trial court provided to the jury. Defense counsel indicated he was satisfied. Tr. p. 673, lines 6-13.

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). “An appellate court may not address an issue that is not preserved.” Abba Equip., Inc. v. Thomason, 335 S.C. 477, 486, 517 S.E.2d 235, 240 (Ct. App. 1999).

In the instant case, Betancourt’s counsel failed to offer any objection to the trial court’s decision to send the law clerk into the jury room and did not object when the trial court changed course and decided to provide the jury a cautionary instruction to ensure the jury did not use the laptop for any purpose except viewing the video recording of the forensic interview. State v. Sosebee, 284 S.C. 411, 413, 326 S.E.2d 654, 655 (1985) (finding “[n]o objection was made to either of these alleged errors nor was a motion for a new trial made such that the judge might have an opportunity to correct a mistake if there be such.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724-25 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. . . It prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve – intentionally **or by chance** – in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.”) (Emphasis added, citations omitted).

The trial court's comments indicate that the initial procedure to send the law clerk in with the lap top was by agreement, but further, defense counsel was provided an opportunity twice to indicate defense counsel's objection to the procedure followed during trial. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 498 S.E.2d 642 (1998) (stating a defendant cannot acquiesce in an issue at trial and then complain about it on appeal); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (holding defense counsel waived his objection when he specifically stated that he had no objection). Because defense counsel never objected to the law clerk's presence in the jury room while the jury viewed the forensic interview and never made any motions even after being advised the jury was deliberating in the law clerk's presence, the issue is not preserved for this Court's review.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.